#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00858

**DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD** 

**APPELLEE** 

#### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT, CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

#### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

STEPHEN T. BAILEY (Miss. Bar No. EVANS & BAILEY, PLLC 359 NORTH BROADWAY STREET POST OFFICE BOX 7326 TUPELO, MS 38802-7326 (662) 844-6040/ TELEPHONE (662) 844-8333/ FACSIMILE

COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLANT, CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

### **

B.	Statement of the Facts						
SUMMARY (	OF THE	E ARGUMENT					
ARGUMENT	• • • • •	<u>10</u>					
I.	THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE IDENTIFICATION, CLASSIFICATION AND EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE PARTIES' PROPERTY						
	A.	Standard of Review10					
	В.	The trial Court committed reversible error in determining that inherited funds used to pay off the mortgage on the jointly titled marital residence were the separate property of the husband					
	C.	The trial Court committed reversible error in failing to make an equitable division of Deforrest's campaign funds					
	D.	The trial Court committed reversible error by awarding sixty-five percent (65%) of the marital assets to Deforrest and thirty-five percent (35%) of the marital assets to Claudia					
П.		TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO RD ALIMONY TO THE APPELLANT CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD. $\dots$ 15					
	A.	Standard of Review					
	B.	The trial Court committed reversible error by failing to award Claudia lump sum alimony					

$\mathbf{C}$	. The trial	Court	committed	<u>reversible</u>	error by	failing to	<u>award</u>	<u>Claudia</u>
	periodic a	alimony	Z				• • • • • • •	<u>17</u>
CONCLUSION								19

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00858

#### **DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD**

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- Honorable Edward C. Fenwick, Special Chancellor in this case and Chancellor for the Sixth Chancery Court District;
- 2. Deforrest R. Allgood, Plaintiff and Appellee;
- 3. Claudia B. Allgood, Defendant and Appellant;
- 4. Stephen T. Bailey, Evans & Bailey, PLLC, Attorney for Appellant; and
- 5. Jackson M. Brown, Attorney for Appellee.

Respectfully submitted,

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD, Appellant

BY:

STEPHEN T. BAILEY (Miss Bar No. 992

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Cases:

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So. 2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993) 16, 17, 19	
Arthur v. Arthur, 691 So. 2d 997, 1001 (Miss. 1997)	
Brennan v. Brennan, 638 So. 2d 1320, 1324 (Miss. 1994)	
Brock v. Brock, 906 So. 2d 879 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)	
Buckley v. Buckley, 815 So. 2d 1260, 1263 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) 17	
Cheatham v. Cheatham, 537 So. 2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1988)	
Dobbs v. Dobbs, 912 So. 2d 491, 492-493 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)	
Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994)	
Fogarty v. Fogarty, 922 So. 2d 836, 840 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)	
Hankins v. Hankins, 729 So. 2d 1283, 1287-88 (Miss. 1989)	
Hemsley v. Hemsley, 639 So. 2d 909, 915 (Miss. 1994)	
Hopkins v. Hopkins, 703 So. 2d 849, 850 (Miss. 1997)	
<u>Johnson v. Johnson</u> , 650 So. 2d 1281, 1285-1286 (Miss. 1994) 12, 15	
Ory v. Ory, 936 So. 2d 405, 412 (Miss Ct. App. 2006)	
Oswalt v. Oswalt, 981 So. 2d 993 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)	
Owen v. Owen, 798 So. 2d 394, 399-400 (Miss. 2001)	
Owens v. Owens, 950 So. 2d 202, 212-213 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)	
Redell v. Redell, 696 So. 2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1997)	
Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So. 2d 623, 627 (Miss. 2002)	
Smith v. Smith, 856 So. 2d 717, 719 (Miss. Ct. App 2003)	
<u>Thompson v. Thompson</u> , 894 So. 2d 603, 607 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) 13	
Weeks v. Weeks, 832 So. 2d 583, 587-88 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)	
Wilson v. Wilson, 820 So. 2d 761 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)	
Other Authorities:	
Deborah H. Bell, Bell On Mississippi Family Law (2005) §6.04 [2][b] at 165-167	
Deborah H. Bell, Bell On Mississippi Family Law (2005) §9.02 [2] at 265	
Deborah H. Bell, Bell On Mississippi Family Law (2005) §6.04 [2][a] at 266	9

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00858

#### **DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD**

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT, CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the trial Court committed reversible error in the identification, classification and equitable division of the parties' property.
- Whether the trial Court committed reversible error in failing to award alimony to the Appellant, Claudia B. Allgood.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of the Proceedings.

Deforrest R. Allgood (hereinafter "Deforrest") filed a Complaint for Divorce against Claudia B. Allgood (hereinafter "Claudia") on March 29, 2007. (Record "R" at pp. 3-6). Deforrest's Complaint for Divorce alleged that irreconcilable differences had arisen between the parties and stated that Deforrest "anticipates that a written agreement for the full and final settlement of any and all property rights existing as well as making adequate and sufficient provisions for the custody and maintenance of their minor child will soon be filed." (R. at pp. 3-6).

Claudia filed an Answer to Deforrest's Complaint on July 18, 2008 and a Counter-Complaint seeking a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences, child custody, child support, an equitable division of the parties' marital assets, both periodic and lump sum alimony and certain other relief (R. at pp. 42-51).

On October 3, 2008 the parties entered into a Consent to Divorce. (R. at pp. 60-63). The

Consent for Divorce provided that the parties agreed to a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. (R. at p. 60). The parties also agreed to share joint legal custody of their child, with Claudia to have physical custody and Deforrest to have reasonable rights of visitation (R. at p. 60). The Consent for Divorce also set forth nine (9) contested issues for resolution by the trial Court. (R. at pp. 60-63). One of the issues submitted to the trial Court was "whether Deforrest R. Allgood shall be required to pay alimony to Claudia B. Allgood, with each party being permitted to present any and all issues pertaining to alimony, and if an award of alimony is warranted." (R. at pp. 60-61). Another issue relevant to this appeal that was submitted to the trial Court was "the identification of the parties separate and marital property, the equitable division of the marital assets, as well as the responsibility of each party for the payment of any outstanding indebtedness." (R. at p. 62).

After a one day trial, the Special Chancellor entered an Opinion of the Court. (R. at pp. 65-78). The Opinion of the Court found that Deforrest was entitled to recoup eighty-two thousand two hundred fifty dollars (\$82,250.00) in inherited funds that he used to pay towards the mortgage on the marital residence. (R. at pp. 72-73). The Opinion of the Court also awarded approximately sixty-five percent (65%) of the total marital assets to Deforrest and the remaining thirty-five percent (35%) to Claudia. (R. at pp. 65-78). Some marital assets were not addressed at all by the trial Court. The Opinion of the Court also found that Claudia was not entitled to alimony. (R. at p. 78).

A Final Judgment was entered on May 1, 2009 in accordance with the trial Court's Opinion of the Court. (R. at pp. 79-81). Claudia noticed her appeal of the trial Court's judgment to this Court on May 28, 2009. (R. at pp. 82-83).

#### B. Statement of the Facts.

Deforrest and Claudia were married on June 17, 1978. (R. at pp. 3, 43, Transcript "T" at p.

136). Three children were born to the parties during the marriage. (R. at pp. 3, 43). The parties two oldest children were emancipated at the time of the trial. (R. at pp. 3, 43). Deforrest and Claudia separated on or about February 24, 2007. (R. at pp. 3, 43). The parties youngest child, Keller, was age sixteen (16) at the time of trial (R. at pp. 3, 43). The parties agreed that they would share the joint legal custody of Keller, with Claudia having physical custody of the child. (R. at pp. 60-63).

Deforrest was the District Attorney for the Sixteenth Circuit Court District at the time of the trial. (T. at p. 6). Deforrest had been the elected District Attorney since 1989. (T. at p. 6). Since the time of his original election, Deforrest had been re-elected to serve five (5) full terms as District Attorney, having been re-elected in 1991, 1995, 1999, 2003 and 2007. (T. at p. 75). Prior to being elected as District Attorney, Deforrest had served as an Assistant District Attorney since July of 1978. (T. at p. 6). Deforrest was age 55 at the time of trial. (T. at p. 58).

Deforrest earned a gross monthly salary as District Attorney of seven thousand nine hundred eighty-three dollars (\$7,983.00). (T. at p. 68, Exhibit P1). He also had income of approximately one hundred twenty-one dollars and eighty-five cents (\$121.85) per month from dividends and interest on bank stocks. (T. at pp. 68-69, 172, Exhibit P1). Deforrest listed on his financial statement non-marital property totaling one hundred twenty-eight thousand nine hundred eighty-eight dollars and eighty-four cents (\$129,988.84). (T. at pp. 15-19, Exhibit P1). The majority of the non-marital property consisted of bank stock left to Deforrest by his family, along with land and personal property. (T. at pp. 15-19, Exhibit P1).

The largest marital assets owned by the parties were the marital residence valued at two hundred forty thousand dollars (\$240,000.00) and Deforrest's retirement and deferred compensation plan valued at a total of approximately two hundred twenty thousand thirty-five dollars and eighty-four cents (\$220,035.84). (T. at pp. 20-21, 142, Exhibit P1).

Deforrest admitted that he was fully vested with thirty plus years of service in the Mississippi Public Employees Retirement System at the time of trial. (T. at p. 75). He also stated that he could retire immediately as District Attorney and that he would lose only approximately thirty dollars (\$30.00) per month in pay. (T. at p. 76, Exhibit P1).

The 8.05 financial statement of Deforrest showed a net monthly pay of five thousand four hundred thirty-six dollars and twenty-eight cents (\$5,436.28), along with total monthly expenses of five thousand one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$5,175.00). (T. at pp. 45-49, 168). Included in Deforrest's listing of monthly expenses were monthly charitable deductions totaling nine hundred fifty dollars and thirty-three cents (\$950.33), which included an eight hundred dollar (\$800.00) per month tithe and one hundred fifty dollars and thirty-three cents (\$150.33) in other miscellaneous donations. (T. at p. 46, 93-94, Exhibit P1).

Since the time that Claudia left the marital residence, Deforrest had lived alone in the parties' 2,900 square foot marital home. (T. at p. 12). Deforrest testified that at the time of the trial that he engaged in hunting, kayaking and that he raised English Setter hunting dogs. (T. at pp. 80-81, 90-91, 94-95). Deforrest testified that he had not been required to curtail his leisure activities since the parties' separation. (T. at p. 91). He also testified that he had not been required to cut back on his spending during the separation. (T. at p. 96).

Claudia was residing in Fayetteville, Arkansas at the time of the trial. (T. at Exhibit D5, R. at p. 27). Claudia was employed as a seventh grade English teacher at Helen Tyson Middle School. (T. at p. 185, Exhibit D5). Claudia's gross monthly income was four thousand five hundred twelve dollars and thirty-three cents (\$4,512.33). (T. at p. 186, Exhibit D5). Claudia testified at trial that she moved to Arkansas in order to be closer to her ailing mother and to increase her earning capacity as a teacher. (T. at pp. 208-209). Claudia was age 52 at the time of trial. (T. at p. 81).

Testimony at trial indicated that Claudia had worked as a teacher during most of the parties' marriage, except for several years when she stayed home to care for the parties' three minor children when the children were small. (T. at pp. 186-189). During the period of time when Claudia was a stay at home mother, she supplemented the family income by keeping another child in the home and by cleaning houses. (T. at p. 188). Claudia testified that at Deforrest's request, she elected to teach for many years in various private schools so that her children could enjoy a private school education without having to pay tuition. (T. at p. 196). As a result of teaching for many years in the various private schools that her children attended, Claudia did not have enough time vested in the Mississippi Public Employees Retirement System to make her eligible for retirement. (T. at pp. 196-197). She also testified that she did not foresee herself having the ability to retire at any point in the future. (T. at pp. 197-198). Claudia also testified that she and Deforrest made the choice as a family for her to work in the private school system for free tuition for the children and that the parties agreed they would share in Deforrest's state retirement. (T. at pp. 196-198).

Claudia indicated that Deforrest frequently worked late hours in his job as District Attorney.

(T. at p. 190). She also stated that she was primarily the party who cared for the children, cooked the meals and cleaned the marital home. (T. at p. 190).

Deforrest and Claudia maintained separate checking accounts throughout most of the marriage. (T. at pp. 100-101, 204-205). The parties did maintain a joint savings account where marital funds were deposited. (T. at pp. 101-102, Exhibit D3).

In addition to working and caring for the children, the testimony at trial indicated that Claudia acted as the general contractor during the construction of the parties' marital residence, saving them a large sum of money. (T. at pp. 32, 126-127, 191-192).

Claudia also assisted Deforrest in his career as District Attorney by helping him campaign.

(T. at pp. 117-118, 198). The testimony showed that at the time of trial, Deforrest had eight thousand seven hundred two dollars and twenty-seven cents (\$8,702.27) in "Campaign Funds" that were accumulated during the course of his political career. (T. at pp. 23-24, Exhibit P1). The Court made no disposition of these "Campaign Funds" in its final ruling. (R. at pp. 65-68).

Claudia testified that since the separation that her lifestyle had changed substantially. (T. at pp. 203-204, 220). Specifically, she stated that she had gone from living in a 2,900 square foot home to a 750 square foot apartment. (T. at pp. 203-204). She also stated that prior to the separation she had money to travel and a maid to clean the home twice per month. (T. at pp. 203-204). Finally, Claudia testified that she did not always have sufficient funds each month to meet her financial obligations. (T. at p. 220).

Claudia also testified that the biggest economic disparity between the parties was the fact that Deforrest could retire immediately with almost no loss of income, while she could likely never retire.

(T. at pp. 196-198, 220-221).

Claudia asked the Court to award her a fifty/fifty split in the marital assets. (T. at p. 219). She also asked the Court to award her one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00) per month in periodic alimony and twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000.00) in lump sum alimony. (T. at pp. 219-220).

One of the major issues at trial was whether Deforrest would be entitled to more than a fifty percent (50%) interest in the marital home due to inherited funds that he used to pay off the mortgage on the property. Deforrest testified that in 2003 that he put ninety-three thousand dollars (\$93,000.00) from funds that he inherited into the parties' joint savings account. (T. at pp. 27-30, 101-105, Exhibit P2, Exhibit P3, Exhibit D3). Thereafter, in January 2005 Deforrest transferred sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000.00) from the joint savings account and used the funds to make a

lump sum payment on the mortgage on the marital residence. (T. at pp. 27-30, 101-105). In 2006, Deforrest took twenty-two thousand two hundred forty-nine dollars (\$22,249.00) out of the joint savings account and used those funds to pay off the mortgage. (T. at pp. 27-30, 101-105, Exhibits P2, P3, D3).

The testimony showed that Claudia's family also made significant financial contributions to the parties' and their children. (T. at pp. 182-184). Specifically, Claudia testified that her parents gave them ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) to twelve thousand dollars (\$12,000.00) as a down payment on their first home. (T. at p. 183). In addition, Claudia's parents gave the parties a down payment for a car, and gave a car to the parties' children. (T. at pp. 183-184).

Despite the clear evidence regarding the commingling of inherited funds by Deforrest, and the evidence of Claudia's efforts in building the marital home, the trial Court found that Deforrest was entitled to recoup his inherited funds in the amount of eighty-two thousand two hundred fifty dollars (\$82,250.00) from the marital home. (R. at pp. 73-74). Claudia was awarded only the sum of seventy-eight thousand eight hundred seventy-five dollars (\$78,875.00) for her interest in the marital home, representing one-half (½) of the equity in the home after deducting eighty-two thousand two hundred fifty dollars (\$82,250.00) for Deforrest's mortgage payments from inherited funds. (R. at pp. 73-74).

The Court also made an award of the remaining marital assets, after deducting Deforrest's inherited funds, that gave Deforrest approximately two hundred seventy-two thousand six hundred ninety dollars (\$272,690.00) of the marital assets and Claudia the sum of one hundred eighty-nine thousand twenty-two dollars (\$189,022.00) of these assets. (R. at p. 74). This represented a split of approximately fifty-nine percent (59%) of the remaining marital assets to Deforrest, and forty-one percent (41%) of the marital assets to Claudia.

The Court did not even address some of the parties' marital property, such as Deforrest's campaign fund account. (T. at pp. 23-24, Exhibit P1, R. at pp. 65-78). Disregarding the parties thirty year marriage, the three thousand five hundred ninety-two dollars (\$3,592.00) disparity in the parties' monthly income, and the lack of retirement security for the wife, the Court did not award any periodic alimony to Claudia. (T. at p. 172, R. at pp. 75-78). The Court did not even address Claudia's request for lump sum alimony. (R. at pp. 65-78).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mississippi is an equitable division state. To make a proper equitable division of marital assets, the trial Court must first classify assets as either marital property or separate property, then value the assets and finally divide the assets according to the Ferguson factors. Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994). The trial Court's first reversible error in this case was in treating Deforrest's inherited funds used to retire the mortgage on the jointly owned marital property as a separate, non-marital asset. The Chancellor first listed the marital residence as "marital property", but treated the inherited funds paid towards the mortgage by Deforrest as his separate property. The evidence showed that the marital residence was built in 1994, largely due to the efforts of Claudia acting as the general contractor. The parties resided in the marital residence until their separation in 2007. Deforrest deposited his inherited money into a joint savings account containing marital funds, then used a portion of the funds to pay off the balance on the mortgage. Undoubtedly, the parties had a large amount of equity in the property due to the efforts of Claudia in building the home prior to the payment made by Deforrest. The monthly mortgage payments on the home, although paid by Deforrest, were paid with marital funds. The money and effort contributed by both parties to the accumulation of equity in the marital residence were so intertwined that Deforrest's separate inherited funds became commingled so as to lose their identity as separate property.

The Court also committed reversible error by failing to even address Deforrest's campaign fund account of eight thousand seven hundred two dollars and twenty-seven cents (\$8,702.27). These funds were accumulated during the marriage. In addition, the campaign funds were listed on Deforrest's financial statement as a marital asset. Claudia should have received one-half (1/2) of the aforesaid campaign funds.

The trial Court further committed reversible error by making a sixty-five percent (65%) to thirty-five percent (35%) division in favor of Deforrest, of the marital assets without any explanation as to the reason for the discrepancy. The proof showed that Deforrest earned more money than Claudia throughout the marriage. However, the proof also showed that Claudia made numerous non-economic contributions to the family, such as staying home to care for the children, cooking, cleaning, working in Deforrest's campaigns, teaching in private schools so the children could attend tuition free, and helping to build the marital residence.

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