## BEFORE THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2009-CA-00858

**DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD** 

**APPELLEE** 

## **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

Jackson M. Brown
Appellee's Attorney
MS Bar #
P. O. Box 57
Starkville, MS 39760-0057
Phone: 662-323-4126

## BEFORE THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

**CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2009-CA-00858

DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD

**APPELLEE** 

### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

Jackson M. Brown for Appellee MS Bar # 4591 P. O. Box 57 Starkville, MS 39760-0057 Phone: 662-323-4126

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CLAUDIA B. ALLGOOD

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-CA-00858

DEFORREST R. ALLGOOD

**APPELLEE**

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

Wilson v Wilson, 820 So.2d 761 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) and Brock v Brock, 906 So. 2d 879 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) support the Chancellor's finding. There is no dispute here that the money was traceable to Forrest and as the Chancellor found, Forrest made "the principal financial contribution to the marital home" (Ferguson factor 1.a., RE 8, Op p 6). Claudia does not attack these two findings by the Chancellor but attempts to distinguish her case with other authority, with different facts, to support her contention that Forrest's inheritance lost its separate character and was converted into marital property. Not only did Claudia not address these findings, her position fails in many ways. For example, it fails to take into consideration that the facts show that Claudia separated from Forrest soon after the mortgage's retirement (CP 73), an action strikingly similar to her prior separation after getting her Master's, and vexatiously suing him in Arkansas, which seems to establish a modus operandi. Claudia's prior and last separation are more egregious than the wife in Devore v. Devore, 725 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1998) where the wife left after getting her name put on the deed. The facts here are more akin to those in Chapel v Chapel. 700 So.2d 593 (Miss. 1997) where the chancellor noted that the parties seldom lived together during the sham marriage (¶15) and the wife's decimation of husband's assets, her refusal to be a wife to him, making his life miserable by actions such as bringing false charges of assault against him, having him arrested and committed involuntarily (¶19).

Moreover, here, the Chancellor, assessed Claudia's credibility, with her other actions, under the *Ferguson* guidelines, and did equity, by not rewarding Claudia's conduct with the windfall she demanded.

In any event, Claudia never gave the Chancellor the opportunity, if needed, to correct her perceived error in the Chancellor's judgment, by presenting him with a proper motion. MRCP,

Rules 52, and 59 govern such situations. MRCP, Rule 52 (a) requires that "in all actions tried [] without a jury the court may, and shall upon the request of any party [] find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon and judgment [] entered accordingly." And 52(b) "[u]pon motion [] filed not later than ten days after [] judgment or [] findings and conclusions [] the court may amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment []. The motion may accompany a motion for new trial pursuant to Rule 59...."

While a motion for a new trial is not always required, Kiddy v Lipscomb, 628 So. 2d 1335, held that a motion must be filed if an appellant seeks an appeal on matters not embraced in the rulings DURING the trial. MRCP, Rule 59(a) states:

"On a motion for a new trial in an action without a jury, the court may open the judgment... take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct entry of a new judgment." [(b)[the motion [must be filed] not later than 10 days [] after judgment or [] findings and conclusions []].

Kiddy held that a motion for a new trial, or its equivalent, must be filed if the appellant seeks to appeal on matters not embraced in the rulings during the trial. The reasons for such a rule are obvious. It prevents needless appeals which only serve to prolong the duration of a lawsuit and heap more work on appellate courts. Further, it prevents sandbagging the trial judge. Here, Claudia complains of the Chancellor's legal analysis, based upon his factual findings, AFTER the trial. These are not matters embraced in the rulings DURING the trial. Consequently, the Chancellor has never had the opportunity to consider her complaints. Had the Chancellor been presented with a proper motion, he may have been able to address her complaints, to her satisfaction. This is the very behavior Kiddy, supra, sought to prevent.

C. The Chancellor did consider Forrest's campaign funds in the distribution. Moreover, since no request modify, correct or clarify was filed, that argument was waived. Furthermore, no authority is cited in support her argument, another waiver.

Forrest had \$8700 in a campaign reelection fund. Claudia believes that merely because the funds were not mentioned in the Chancellor's Opinion, it is reversible error, regardless of the controverted facts as to her help in its acquisition. "With respect to issues of fact where chancellor made no specific finding, this Court proceeds on the assumption that chancellor resolved all such fact issues in favor of the appellee, or at least in a manner consistent with the decree." Smith v. Smith, 545 So. 2d 725, 727 (Miss. 1989). "Generally, when there are no specific findings of fact, this Court often assumes that the chancellor resolved fact issues in favor of the appellee." Sarver v. Sarver, 687 So. 2d 749, 757 (Miss. 1997). This Court assumes that the "chancellor made determinations of fact sufficient to support its judgment . . . and the Court will look to the evidence and see what state of facts, if any, will justify the decree." Id. It is a fundamental rule of law that this Court does not review matters on appeal that were not first raised at the trial level. Shaw v. Shaw, 603 So. 2d 287, 292 (Miss. 1992) (See MRCP, Rules 52 and 59, I.B., supra and infra.

Claudia refuses to recognize that campaigns are expensive and for Forrest to comply with the Chancellor's financial directives, he needs to be reelected or start a new law practice in this economy. Furthermore, the Chancellor did not lament Claudia's incredulous claims, her \$8000 unaccounted for insurance proceeds, her failure to provide the court with evidence of her retirement, telling the Chancellor to multiply an unreadable amount withheld from her pay check times twelve (T 241, Ex D5, last page) to arrive at the value.

Is this \$8700 not tit, for Claudia's \$8000 tat?

Moreover, Claudia did not request a modification, correction, additional finding of fact and conclusion of law or raise the issue in a motion for a new trial (see MRCP, Rules, 52, 59, supra). She gave the Chancellor no opportunity to rule on the matter at all. Pace v. Owens, 511 So.2d 489, 492 (Miss. 1987) (when no specific findings of fact, this Court assumes the trial court made factual determinations sufficient to support its judgment). A party who fails to raise an issue at trial waives any right to complain thereafter. Page v. Siemens Energy and Automation, Inc. 728 So.2d 1075, 1082 (¶27) (Miss. 1998). This Court "has consistently held that an unsupported assignment of error will not be considered." Graham v. Graham, 767 So.2d 277 (Miss. App., 2000) (¶ 12). See again Rules 52 and 59, supra and infra.

### D. The Chancellor is not required to make a 50/50 division of marital assets.

Ferguson does not require that the chancellor divide assets equally, only equitably. Love v. Love, 687 So. 2d 1229, 1232 (Miss. 1997). Divorcing parties have no right to equal distribution even where the parties jointly accumulated the property. Pierce v. Pierce, 648 So.2d 523, 526 (Miss. 1994). "The obligation of a chancellor is not to follow some precise formula as to each individual component of distribution, alimony, and other support, but to provide equitably between the spouses in the final outcome." Welch v. Welch, 755 So.2d 6, 10 (¶26) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

In Richardson v. Riley, 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss. 1978), as here, the chancellor noted that he had not, as requested, "equally" divided their marital assets because the property division eliminated the need for periodic payments and other potential sources of friction between the parties. This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor "[e]ven if this Court disagree[s] with the lower court on the finding of fact and might . . . [arrive] at a different conclusion."

Claudia complains that the Chancellor made no mention of her non-economic contributions to the marriage. It is significant to note that in many ways her testimony was contradicted. Forrest prepared breakfasts and lunches, he carried Keller to school and other places (T 115-116). At one point Claudia claimed she was responsible for cleaning, but then asserted that her lifestyle was lowered since she could no longer have a maid (T 203). Both cannot be true and is a credibility issue. Moreover, even while living with Forrest, the family had work Saturdays, when they had no bi-monthly house keeper.

Claudia claimed she sacrificed vested retirement by teaching in private schools but Forrest testified that Claudia chose to do so to be near the children. In any event, Forrest still had to pay tuition (T 112-113).

Claudia's Brief insists that she contributed to Forrest's election campaigns but the record showed that during the last campaigns she did nothing and would not allow a campaign sticker to be placed on her car (T 117). Again, another credibility issue.

Additionally, this Court has held that a chancellor has discretion in determining whether acquisitions during the dying stages of a marriage qualify as marital or separate property. Aron v Aron, 832 So. 2d 1257 (Miss. App. 2002). In Shelman v Shelman, 722 So. 2d. 547 (Miss. 1998, ¶25), it was held that even though the marriage had not been legally terminated, the relationship from which equitable distribution arises had been ended months earlier and did not entitle a spouse to have property declared marital. In Shelman, the husband demanded participation in the wife's retirement value at the time of the hearing, but this Court held he was not entitled because the marriage relation had ended earlier, even though it had not been de jure terminated. At Trial, Forrest's retirement was valued at \$220,000, but on Claudia's last separation it was worth only

\$174,318, and even less when conjugal relations ended. Here, the marital relationship giving rise to equitable distribution, had long been terminated, as in *Shelman*. Here, both Forrest and Claudia agreed, and the Chancellor so found, that they lived in a "hostile" environment, (RE 8, Op 6) Forrest living alone (RE 15, Op 11). The marriage was a sham.

Again, Claudia did not ask for a clarification, new trial or findings of fact and conclusions of law which waives the issue and reargues the her campaign argument. (See, Rule 52 and 59 arguments and case law, *supra*).

Nevertheless, because of the division she did receive, the Chancellor obviously considered Claudia's credibility as to what she claimed she did domestically, the sham marriage, her fault, and the fact that, ironically, she kept the District Attorney a virtual prisoner for at least 11 years.

#### II. THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY DENIED ALIMONY AWARDS

The Chancellor found that since he was requiring Forrest to borrow \$144,875.00 to pay Claudia, Forrest would have a sizable mortgage payment and Claudia would have adequate funds to buy her own home and have no mortgage payment (RE 16, Op 14), concluding that after this large payment, together with Claudia's advanced teaching degree and her job in Arkansas making \$54,000 annually, she was able to provide a standard of living for herself roughly equivalent to that of Forrest (RE 9; Op 7), and that under *Ferguson*, "no more need to be done" (RE 16, Op 14).

A. Standard for Review. "[A]limony, if allowed, should be reasonable in amount commensurate with the wife's accustomed standard of living, minus her own resources, and considering the ability of the husband to pay. As long as the chancellor follows this general standard, the amount of the award is largely within his discretion." *Gray v. Gray*, 562 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss. 1990) (citing Wood v. Wood, 495 So. 2d 503, 506 (Miss. 1986). Additionally, the husband is entitled to a

normal life and as decent a standard as possible." Graham v. Graham, 767 So2d 277.

Since the decision to award alimony, as well as the amount, is left to the discretion of the chancellor, this Court will not reverse unless the chancellor manifestly erred or abused his discretion. *Voda v. Voda*, 731 So. 2d 1152, 1154 (¶7) (Miss. 1999). Alimony is not hermetically sealed but is considered with equitable distribution and other awards in the end. All awards to a spouse must be considered together to decide if they are equitable and fair. *Hubbard v. Hubbard*, 656 So. 2d 124, 130 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921, at 929).

In Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So. 2d 1281 (Miss. 1994), this Court concluded that one legitimate aim of an equitable division of the marital assets is to provide for post-divorce financial security of both parties and that only if a "deficit" as to one spouse remains after the equitable division, should the chancellor proceed to consider some form of alimony to properly provide for the less financially secure party. Johnson, 1287.

In *Chesney v Chesney*, 2002 WL 119606 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), both parties received a fairly substantial amount of assets accumulated during the marriage. The evidence in *Chesney*, as here, showed Mrs. Chesney was gainfully employed and no real difference existed between her and Mr. Chesney; there was no evidence of any unusual aspect of Mrs. Chesney's financial position that would indicate any difficulty as to her ability to survive with assets and income substantially the same as Mr. Chesney. On these facts, the Court was of the view that the evidence does not establish the kind of "deficit" that must be established as a precursor to the award of periodic alimony.

Claudia claimed her lifestyle had changed but only articulated that she now lived in a 700 square foot apartment, could no longer afford a maid, and could not get her hair done. The

Chancellor's award of \$144,875.00 in equitable distribution should have been adequate to remedy the problem of the small apartment. Now, after that award, if she has a house payment, it should be small. Balancing a maid and hair salon against Forrest's loss of association with Keller and the \$500 cost to him to visit, it seems that Forrest's lifestyle has been more disrupted than Claudia's. Claudia left the marital domicile and procured living quarters for herself and Keller, without cause and with no fault attributable to Forrest and soon claimed a need for more money from him over her \$42,000 income, while she lived with friends. Forrest told Claudia she and Keller were welcome to return home but Claudia refused. "In the absence of evidence showing that the wife is ill, or that there was some other legitimate compelling reason requiring her to live separate and apart from her husband-- the husband is not required to pay alimony, separate maintenance, or to support her, so long as she wrongfully refuses to return to her conjugal duties" Cox v Cox, 183 So.2d 921, 924 (Miss. 1966). In cases where alimony is awarded to a spouse at fault, it is "not to enable the wife to maintain the lifestyle to which she had been accustomed, but to prevent her from destitution." Id. Here, in addition to Claudia's fault, there is no evidence that she would be rendered destitute by denial of alimony. Graham v. Graham, 767 So. 2d 277 (Miss. App. 2000). Claudia has failed to establish error in the chancellor's judgment.

Finally, Claudia, once again, failed to present this issue to the Chancellor through MRCP, Rules 52 and 59 and case law and is a waiver, *supra*.

### B. Claudia was not entitled to lump sum alimony.

In addition to the inadequacy of the separate estates and financial security of the wife, in order to award lump sum alimony, chancellors look to the substantial contribution to the accumulation of total wealth. *Flechas v. Flechas*, 791 So. 2d 295, 304 (¶31) (Miss. Ct. App.

2000) (citing Cheatham v. Cheatham, 537 So. 2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1988). Here, just as in Flechas, there is no evidence of a substantial contribution to the total wealth by Claudia. The Chancellor found that Forrest made the principal financial contribution (RE 8, Op 6) and this factual finding is insufficient to be the basis for an award of alimony. In Wallmark v Wallmark, 863 So. 2d 68 (Miss. App. 2003), as here, the chancellor found that the wife would be financially secure and a decision to deny a lump sum award does not amount to an abuse of discretion and the issue was without merit.

Finally, this claimed error, once again, was not presented to the Chancellor, by way of MRCP Rules, 52 or 59, and case law *supra*, and is waived.

## C. Claudia was not entitled to monthly alimony.

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